BANCROFT GLOBAL DEVELOPMENT et al v. KOSKINEN et al Doc. 48

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

BANCROFT GLOBAL
DEVELOPMENT, et al,

Plaintiffs, X Civil Action No.: 17-39%RC)
V. : Re Document No.: 42
UNITED STATE OF AMERICA,et al,

Defendans.

MEMORANDUM OPINION

GRANTING IN PART AND DENYING IN PART DEFENDANTS’ MOTION FOR PARTIAL DISMISSAL

[. INTRODUCTION

Plaintiffs Bancroft Global Development, Michael Stock, and Melissa Batek Seek
the return of documents seized during the executiorseéech warranh 2011,as well as
money damages for the allegediylawful disclosure otheir confidential tax return information.
In particular, Plaintiffsaallege that employees of several federal agencidsemployees of other
federal agencies that Plaintiffs were beingitaa the likely result of thaudit, andcommented
aboutPlaintiffs’ behavior during the audit. Additionally, Plaintiffs allege that theegoment
agencies that had originally seized their confidential tax informgaee a portion of those
documents tarother undisclosed government agency without the legal authority to dibeso.
Government has moved to dismiss each of Plaintiffs’ unlawful disclosure claims grotimels
that they are either timearred or insufficiently pleaded. For the reasons stated below, the Court
dismisses Counts Il andll of Plaintiffs’ Second Amended Complaiior failure to state a
claimanddismisses Mr. and Mrs. Stocks’ claims in Count VI and a portion of Count IV for lack

of standing.
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Il. FACTUAL BACKGROUND 1*

Plaintiff Bancroft Gbbal Developmeng‘Bancroft”) is a nonprofit corporation that
“provides education and training for foreign governments and international atyamszin
disciplines such as explosive ordnance disposal, emergency medicine, and law emfpricem
order to protect civilians and help such areas recover and develop economically.” 2d Am
Compl. 11 13-14, ECF No. 36. Plaintiff Michael Stock serves as Bancroft’'s President a
Director, and Plaintiff Melissa Bates Stock serves as its Secretary auddpiid. 1715-16.
Bancroft’'s work involves a substantial amount of classified information atetiadethat it
receives from the federgbvernmentld. § 22. @rtain members of Bancroft’s staff, including
Mr. and Ms. Stock,have been granted “clearances for extremely sensitive classified
information” which allows them access to classified material relating to specific government
programs or contractid. 11 22-23. Additionally, the government has allowed Bancroft to store
and process classifigdaterialsn certain locations in its officetd.  24.

Despite these clearancesdauthorizations, in 2011, the Federal Bureau of Investigation
(“FBI”) and Immigration and Customs Enforcement (“ICE”) begarestigatng Bancroft for
potential violations of 18 U.S.C. § 1924, concerning the unauthorized removal or retention of
classified documents or materild. I 25. In furtherance of that investigation, on November 9,
2011,the FBI and ICE executed three search warrants: twmaging the seizure of property in
Bancroft's D.C offices and one authorizing the seizure of property in Mr. and Mrs. Stock’s
home in McLean, Virginiald.  26. The FBI and ICE seized a multitude of records belonging to

Bancroft and the Stocks, including both hard copy records and electroniSé&eegl {1 2730.

1 At the motion to dismiss stage, the Court accepts the plairftitftual allegations as
true.See, e.gUnited States v. Philip Morris, Incl16 F. Supp. 2d 131, 135 (D.D.C. 2000).



Soon thereafter, the Internal Revenue Ber('IRS”) began an audit ofdhcroft's 2008,
2009, and 2010 tax returrd. 1 31.In furtherance othat audit, the IRS issued formal
InformationDocument Requests seeking records that would establish the accuracy oftBancrof
tax returns during those years. However, because the FBI and ICE had seized ranstaft'®
hard copy and electronic records, Bancroft was unable to comply with thrertR8estsld.
32. In an attempt to comply with the requests, Bancroft wrote to Assistant tb&eit
Jonathan Malis about the status of the seized records, explaining that the govenmteatiion
of the documents prevented Bancroft from complying with the IRS’s Infoom&tocument
Requests. Mr. Malis did not grant Bancroft accegbeaelevanmaterialsld. I 33.

Due in part of Bancroft’s inability to comply with the Information Documesdjests,
the IRSopened an additional audit into Mr. and Mrs. Stock’s personal tax returns for the same
years.d.  34. Again, Mr. and Mrs. Stock found themselves unable to comply with the requests
becausenany of the documents they would need to submit in order to comply remained in
government custodyd. 1 35. In April 2013, IRS Revenue Agent Rene Hammett, the agent
assigned to the two audits, contacted Plaintiffs’ counsel inquiring about the ctahe IRS’s
outstanding Information Document Requektsy 36. She informe®lantiffs’ counsel that she
understood that many of the responsive records remained in government custodyeamalwer
in the possession of the U.S. Attorney’s Office, arglainedthat Elizabeth Henn, counsel for
the IRS, had contacted the Office inatempt to resolve this issud. { 37.Despite these
efforts, it would be another three months before any of Plaintiffs’ seizeddsewould be
returned to themd. 1 40.

In May 2013, Plaintiffs were informed that the Department of Justice had desed

criminal investigation of Plaintiffdd. § 41 Jay Bratt, Deputy Chief of the National Security



Section, told Plaintiffs’ counsel that the government would return all unclasssfterds it had
collected for prposes of the investigation Rbaintiffs’ counsel, but would send all classified
records it had collected to an unidentified government agéncy42. However, when Plaintiffs
received a portion of the seized records in July 2013, they notice@lijtaitre inventory of
returned materialdid not include all of the seized unclassified property, . . . including critical
financial information needed to respond to the ongoing aud&k"highly classified material
had been commingled with unclassified records while in Government custoslylfing in the
transmissiorof certain unclassified records to the unidentified government ag@&)¢the
returned materials included materials clearly marked as classif@dhe government’'s
inventory of items initially seized, and items returnexhtained errors; an@) “electronic

media had been wiped clean of all its data, and physical items had been destiteyedr#i
custody.”ld. 1 44.“In light of these problems, Plaintiffs still did not have access to sizeable
amounts of information needed to respond to the ongoing audit§.49. Indeed, as of the
filing of their Second Amended Complaint, Plaintiffs still had not received marmeof t
unclassified records and nearly all of the classified records that ther@Gwmrhad seize&ee
id. 1 64.

When Plaintiffs attempted to obtain the remainder of the seized documents, the
government did not acknowledge that it had retained or released any documents lich. §fffor.
50-51. However, two years later, on June 24, 2015, ICE Special Agent John Dietrich delivered
two more boxes ofthiscelaneous documents,” including a portion of se&ed tax returns and
return informationto Bancroft's offce.ld.  52.While Special Agent Dietrich was returning the
boxes, Plaintiffs noticed that he appeared to be aofdre “existence, status, scopad

anticipated outcome of the IRS audid’ T 89.



Plaintiffs allege that the mishandling of the@izd records led to the improper sharing of
their confidential tax information with unauthorized individuads.§ 66.First, Plaintiffs allege
that in May 2016, the IRS informdlaintiffs that theirmissing tax records were no longer in
FBI or ICE custodybut rather “were maintained in a facility that could have been accessed by
IRS personnel with the proper clearance if the taxpayer had provided permikski§n/0.

Plaintiffs believe that the referenced facility belongarniaindisclosed governmergeancy
(“Government Agencyd with whom Bancroft has or had a classified contractual relationship.
Id. T 71. Plaintiffs argue that this means that the FBI, ICE, and the U.S. Attorrfégis O
provided this third-party Government Agency with documents containing confidentiaittau
information “without authorization or any legitimate purposd.™ 72.

Second, Plaintiffs allege thaeginning on or around July 2012, IRS counsel Henn told
Assistant U.S. Attorney Malis and Deputy Chief Bratt abtibhe existence and status of the
audit”; an IRS agent’s “prediction that Bancroft’'s teaxempt status would be revokettig
agent’s “view that Batcroft was not being cooperative”; atgpecific information about
Plaintiffs’ accounts, transactions, and relationships with third part@s[’75. While Plaintiffs
were informed in April 2013 that Ms. Henn had been in contact with the U.S. Attorndigs,Of
Plaintiffs were under the impression that this contact was for the limitpdgriof finding out
when the IRS would be able to gain access to the seized retohrfis/8. It was not until May
2016 that Plaintiffs learned that Ms. Henn had disclosed the information listed above to Mr

Malis and Mr. Brattld.

2 Bancroft explains that doesnot identify eitheiGovernment Agency or its parent
agencyin any of its filingsbecause Bancroft's connections to thegencies are classifieBee
Pl.’s Opp’n at 23.



Third, Plaintiffs alege that the IRS impeigsibly sharedax information “including
IRS-generated documents andnBeoft’'s own return information Yvith Government Agency.
Id. T 79. Plaintiffs also allege that in 2012, during a meeting at IRS headquaR&gfficials
informed Government Agency employees that the IRS would revoke Bancrofégsempt
status.”ld. { 81. Thereafter, Agent Hammett continued to speak with Govermfgenty’s
employees, including the then-Director of the Agency, about the audit at various points
throughout 2012d. { 82. Plaintiffs have also unearthed “a handwritten note, dated May 6, 2016
and signed by IRS official Nancy Todd, indicat[ing] that she had shared with a Gomernme
Agency employee . . . information prepared by the IRS exam in response to Bataxptger
protest.”ld. I 83. Overall, Plaintiffs allege that the IRS has discussed the following with
Government Agency employeesi)‘Bancrot’s accounting system and recdeeeping; (ii)
whether Bancroft properly had managed federal funds; (iii) whether &ansed Generally
Accepted Accounting Principles; and (iv) whether the Government Agency wouldlipg val
pressure Bancroft to relinggh its taxexempt status.ld. 1 84.

Fourth, Plaintiffs allege that the IRS and the FBI disclosed Bancroftietas
information to ICE, as evidenced by their conversation with Special Agetidhien June 24,
2018.See idf1 86-91. And ffth, Plaintiffs allege thathe Government Agency improperly
disclosed Bancroft’s tax t@rn information to employees @$ parent agency (“Oggizatiori),
as evidenced by the fact that the Organization refused to consider Bancaofofaract in
January 201because “the Organization had been made aware of the IRS audit, that the IRS was
going to shut down Bancroft, and that Bancroft's reputation involved a troublesome history of
audits.”ld. 1 96. Additionally, Bancroft alleges that employees of Government Agencygsiscl

this type of information to nine other individuasich as “managemelavel staff in a



procurement entity, who were well-positioned to make decisions about Bandigitxdiey to
receive government contract$d’ 11 98-99. Plaintiffs explain that they learned of these
disclosures in May 2016, when theceived Government Agency’s list of thiparty contacts
as part of the auditd. T 100.

Plaintiffs filed this suitin March 201 7alleging unlawful disclosure of their tax return
information in violation of 26 U.S.C. 8§ 6103. Compl. 11 13-14, ECF No. 1. Three weeks later,
they filed an amended complaifitling in some ofthe details of their unlawful disclosure claims
andadding requests for a declaratory judgnfenspoliation of property the government
destroyedand for replevin of the documents seiz8de generallAm. Compl, ECF No. 9.
Defendant John Koskinen, then-Commissioner of the IRS, moved to disang®f thecounts
in the new complaindn several grounds, includirfdy) that Plaintiffs named the wrong
defendants in their unlawful disclosure of their tax return informati@ms (2) that some of the
unlawful disclosure claimaeretime-barred, (3that Plaintiffs provided insufficient details to
state cognizable claims for the unlawful disclosure of their tax informatrah(4)thatthe claim
of spoliation against the Commissioner of RS in his official capacityshould be dismissed
becausdlaintiffs had not alleged that the IRS had custody of the documents Plaintiffists
SeeKoskinen Mot. Dismiss at 2, ECF No. Zheremainingdefendants- ICE, the Department
of Justice, and several of its sub-components—also moved to dismiss several counts of the
amended complaint on the grounds that (1) the unlawful disclosure claims were igrsily§fic
pleaded, and (2) that Plaintiffs’ spoliation and replevin claims should have been brought unde
the Federal Tort Claims Act, but thaten if they had ka0, Plaintiffs had failed to exhaust their
administrative remedies in order to bring such cladeeMem. SuppDOJ Mot. Dismiss at4

2, ECF No. 24.



Upon review of the Government’s motions, Plaintiffs moved to amend their complaint to
(1) add the Unite&tates as a defendant to altleéir claims.and(2) replace theeplevin and
spoliation claimswvith a claim under Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 41(g) for the return of
property. SeeMot. Amend, ECF No. 29The Gurt granted Plaintiffs’ motioand Plaintiffs’
Second Amended Complaint became the operative complaint in thiSeaem. Op. (Oct.
27, 2017), ECF No. 35. The United States has now moved to dismiss Plaintiffs’ five unlawful

disclosure claimsand its motion is ripe for decisioBeeDefs.” Mot. Dismiss, ECF No. 42.

lll. LEGAL STANDARD

“Absent a waiver, sovereign immunity shields the Federal Government andntsex)
from suit” F.D.I.C. v. Meyer510 U.S. 471, 475 (1994). “[M§ existence of consent is a
prerequisite for jurisdictiofi United States v. Mitchelt63 U.S. 206, 212 (1983), and a
“plaintiff must overcome the defense of sovereign immunity in order to establiglrigtiction
necessary to survive a Rule 12(b)(1) motion to dismiexkson v. Busi48 F. Supp. 2d 198,
200 (D.D.C. 2006). “[L]imitations and conditions upon which the Government consents to be
sued must be strictly observed and exceptions thereto are not to be imledan v.
Nakshian 453 U.S. 156, 160-61 (1981). A court, however, must accept “the allegations of the
complaint as true,Banneker Ventures, LLC v. Grahai®8 F.3d 1119, 1129 (D.C. Cir. 2015),
and“construe the complaint ‘liberally,” granting plaintithie benefit of all inferences that can be
derivedfrom the facts alleged.Barr v. Clinton 370 F.3d 1196, 1199 (D.C. Cir. 2004) (quoting
Kowal v. MCI Communications Cordl6 F.3d 1271, 1276 (D.C. Cir. 1994)fhere necessary
to resolve a jurisdictional challenge, “the court may consider the complgipiesnented by

undisputed facts evidenced in the record, or the complaint supplemented by undispufgdgacts



the court’s resolution of disputed factblérbert v. Nat'l Acad. of Scis974 F.2d 192, 197 (D.C.
Cir. 1992).

Overall,“‘the [p]laintiff's factual allegations in the complaint . . . will bear closer
scrutiny in resolving a 12(b)(1) motion’ than in resolving a 12(b)(6) motion for é&itustate a
claim.” Grand Lodge of Fraternal Order of Police v. Ashcrd®5 F. Supp. 2d 9, 13-14 (D.D.C.
2001) (citing 5A Charles A. Wright & Arthur R. Miller, Federal Practiod &rocedure § 1350).
A motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6) does not test a plamtiffimate likelihood of success
on the merits; rather, it tests whether a plaintiff has progéated a claimSee Scheuer v.
Rhodes416 U.S. 232, 236 (1974brogated on other grounds blarlow v. Fitzgerald 457

U.S. 800 (1982). A court considering such aioropresumes that the complasmfactual
allegations are true and constrtigasm liberally in the plaintif§ favor See, e.gUnited States v.
Philip Morris, Inc, 116 F. Supp. 2d 131, 135 (D.D.C. 2000). Nevertheless, “[t]o survive a
motion to dismiss, a complaint must contain sufficient factual matter, accepted,dse tstate a
claim to relief that is plausible on its faceAshcroft v. Igbal556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009) (quoting
Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twomb|y550 U.S. 544, 570 (20))7 This means that a plainti§f’factual
allegations “must be enough to raise a right to relief above the speculative tetred, o
assumption that all the allegations in the complaint are true (even if doubtful)it Taedbmbly
550 U.S. at 555-5itations omitted). “Threadbare recitals of the elements of a cause of action,
supported by mere conclus@tatements,” are therefore insufficient to withstafiuée 12(b)(6)
motion to dismisslgbal, 556 U.S. at 67.8A court need not accept a plaintéflegalconclusions

as truesee id, nor must a court presume the veracity of the legal conclusions eéltatehed as

factual allegationssee Twombly550 U.S. at 555.



IV. ANALYSIS

The Government has moved to dismiss Counts Ill, IV, V, VI, and VII of Plaintiffs’
Second Amended Complaint on several grounds. First, the Government argues thtis Plainti
have not shown that they filed suit within the applicable limitations period for Counts Nil.
Defs.” Mot. at 6-10This failure to demonstrate timeliness, the Gom@ntargues, deprives the
Court ofsubject mattejurisdiction over these counts. Second, the€Bement argues that
Plaintiffs have failed to state viable claims for violations 6f83in all of theirunlawful
disclosure countsSee idat 1Q Plaintiffs respond that all of their clainase timely and
sufficiently pleadedSee generallls.” Opp’n, ECF No. 44. As explained below, the Court finds
that Counts Ill and Vlere insufficiently pleadednd therefore dismisses those claims
Additionally, the Court finds that Mr. and Mrs. Stock lack standing to bring Count VI and a
portion of Count IVand therefore dismisses their claims in those camtgell.

A. The Statute of Limitations

The Government contendisat several oPlaintiffs’ unlawful disclosurelaims were
untimely filed, andhat because § 7431’s statute of limitations is jurisdictjahal Court does
not havesubject mattejurisdiction over the untimely claimSeeDefs.” Mot. at 6—-10To0
support theiargumenthat § 7431’s statute of limitations is jurisdictiortale Government
points toAloe Vera of Am. v. United Statg#éloe VeraT), 580 F.3d 867 & Cir. 2009) and
Gandy v. United State234 F.3d 281 (5th Cir. 200@®asesn which courts found § 7431’s
statute of limitations to be jurisdiction&h the alternativethe Governmerdirgues that the
allegedly untimely counts may be dismis$edfailure to state a clailecauselaintiffs’
“pleadings show that they knew or had reason to know of the disclosures more thaarswvo ye

before filing suit! Defs.” Mot. at 7. Plaintiffs respontthat Ninth and Fifth Circuit opinions

10



notwithstanding, & decade of Supreme Court and D.C. Circuit precedennak[esklear that a
limitations period like the one contained in Section 7431(d) is gursdictional affirmative
defense on which the Govenent bears the burden at all tinieRls.” Opp’n at 9. And
regardless, Plaintiffs argue, their Second Amended Compiaikés clear that Plaintiffs
discovered each alleged offense within the limitations pelibet 12. As explained belowhe
Court finds that §7431’s statute dimitations isnotjurisdictional, but rather is an affirmative
defense. Therefor@jewing the facts alleged in the Second Amended Complaint in the light
most favorable to Plaintiffs, the Court fintihet it cannot at this poirm the proceedings
determine whetheCounts IV, V, and Vllare timebarred, and therefore denies the
Government’'s motion to dismiss on this ground.

1. The Nature of § 7431’s Statute of Limitations

Section 7431 provides, in a subsection called “Periodrfnging action,” that
“[n] otwithstanding any other provision of law, an action to enforce any liabiégted under
this section may be brought, without regard to the amount in controversy, at anyttime2wi
years after the date of discovery by thaiiff of the unauthorized inspection or disclosure.” 26
U.S.C. 7431(d). This limitations period applies both to sag&nst the United Statedien
employees of the United Statgslate § 6103see id.§ 7431(a)(1), and suits against non-
employees when they violate § 61688¢ id.8 7431(a)(2).

When the United States is named as a defendansuit a cause of action’s statute of
limitations generally falls into two major categories. First, there are statuiestafions that
“seek primarily to protect defendants against stale or unduly delayed cldohs.R. Sand &
Gravel Co. v. United State§52 U.S. 130, 133 (2008)hese statugeof limitations are non

jurisdictional and are therefore subject to forfeiture, waiver, and equitathgiddl. Second,

11



there are statutes of limitations ths¢ek notso much to protect a defendantasespecific
interest in timeliness as to achieve a broader systated goal, such as .limiting the scope
of a governmental waiver of sovereign immunitig” (citations and internal quotation marks
omitted).

The question of which category a statute of limitations falls iilst@6t merely semantic
but one of considerable practical importance for judges and litigants. Bgaandite as going to
a courts subjectmatter jurisdiction alters the normal operation of our adversarial system.”
Henderson ex rel. Henderson v. ShinsB&R U.S. 428, 434 (201150r example,n overcoming
a motion to dismiss, intahich of the two catgories a statute of limitations falls can be critical
When defending against a Rule 12(b)(1) motion to disfoisisck of subject matter jurisdiction
plaintiffs bear the burden of pleading and eventually proaingurt’'ssubject mattejurisdiction.
See Lujan v. Defs. of Wildljf604 U.S. 555, 561 (1993j.a plaintiff cannot establish that his
claims “lie within ‘the JudicibBPower of the United StatesMaxberry v. Dep’t of the Armp52
F. Supp. 2d 48, 50 (D.D.C. 2013) (quoting U.S. Const. art. lll, § 1), andalfedéral statute
grants the court jurisdiction to hear those claint,{citing Abdelfattah v. U.S. Dep't of
Homeland Sec893 F. Supp. 2d 75, 78 (D.D.C. 20)2he court must dismiss the claiBteel
Co. v. Citizens for a Betté&nv't, 523 U.S. 83, 94 (1998) (citirtgx parte McCardle74 U.S.
506, 514 (1868)).

On the other hand, whenstatute of limitations isonqjurisdictional and is therefore an
affirmative defensga court should grant a motion to dismiss “only if the caalon its face is
conclusively timebarred.”Firestone v. Firestoner6 F.3d 1205, 1209 (D.Cir. 1996) see also
Bregman v. Perles47 F.3d 873, 875 (D.C. Cir. 2014) ¢Bause statute of limitations issues

often depend on contested questions of tistnissal is appropriate only if the complaint on its

12



face is conclusively timbarred.”).Overall, “although not without exception, the plaintiff
typically bears the burden of proving that the Court has jurisdiction over the mattghile. the
defendant bears the burden of proof on most affirmative defedde&ary v. HessleRadelet
156 F. Supp. 3d 28, 33 (D.D.C. 2016) (internal citations omitted).

Neither the Supreme Court nor the D.C. Circuit has clarified under winthellathe
statuteof limitations in 8 7431 stands. Indeed, only two Circuits have addressed this iaue at
TheFifth Circuit hasprovided little explanation for why it believé&d7431’s statute of
limitationsto bejurisdictional.See Gandy234 F.3d at 283 [f'a waive of sovereign immunity
contains dimitations period, a plaintiff's failure to timely file suit deprives the court of
jurisdiction.” (citingUnited States v. Dalm#94 U.S. 596, 608, (1990)). However, the Ninth
Circuit has provided a thorough analysis, explairtimag § 7431’s statute of limitations
jurisdictional becausgl) “the structure of section 7431 indicates that Congress intended the
limitation period to restrict the scope of the governnsenaiver of sovereign immunity,” and
(2) “the languagef section 7431(d) shows that Congress intended the statute of limitations to be
absolut€. Aloe Vera ] 580 F.3d at 871. In particulahe Ninth Circuitfoundthat because §
7431’s waiver of sovereign immunity, 26 U.S.C. § 7431(a) (providing that “in general,” a
“taxpayer may bring a civil action for damages against the United States inch clisirt of the
United States” foa disclosure in violation of 8 6103yashoused within the same section as the
statute of limitations for bringing such a sudkt, § 7431(d), filing witlin the limitations period
was a requirementor the court to gain jurisdiction over the case by waiver of sovereign
immunity. See Aloe Vera b80 F.3d at 871. The Court also fouhdtthe inclusion of the phrase

“[n]otwithstanding any other provision of laudemonstratethat Congress intended for “[n]o

13



provision of law [to] abrogate that prescription, including any provision thatpmewde for
equitable tolling or waivet.ld. at 871-72.

SinceAloe Vera landGandywere decided, the Supreme Court has further clarified how
courts should determine whether compliamith a statute of limitations isequired for
jurisdictional purposes or merely required to properly state a claim. FopéxamJnited
States v. Kwai Fun Won@35 S. Ct. 1625 (2015), the Court emphasthat “the same
rebuttable pesumption of equitable tolling’ should also apply to suits brought against the United
States under a diate waiving sovereign immunityjtl. at 1631 guoting Irwin v. Deg of
Veterans Affairs498 U.S. 89, 95-96 (1990)), and that in order to overcome that rebuttable
presumption, “the Government must clear a high bar to establishdtatite 6limitations is
jurisdictional,”id. at 1632, by demonstrating that Congrédsarly stated” that it intended the
limitations period to be jurisdictionat]. (quotingSebelius v. Auburn Rddvied. Ctr., 568 U.S.
145, 153 (2013))in clearly staéing that the limitations period is meant to be jurisdictional,
“Congress must do something special, beyond setting an excégigateadline.”ld. In orderto
find that “something special,” courts must look to “the text, context, and relevanidaktor
treatment of the provision at issuéViusacchio v. United State$36 S. Ct. 709, 717 (2016)
(internal citation and quotation marks omitted).

The question of how 8§ 7431(d) has been historically treated can be easily answered.
While the Ninth and Fifth Cauits have found the limitations period to be jurisdictional, the D.C.
Circuit andSupreme Court have never addressed the issue. Therefore, this case is easily
distinguishable frordohn R. Sand & Gravel Co. v. United Sta&s2 U.S. 130, 138-39 (2008)
(declining to overturn prior cases holding that 28 U.S.C. § 2501 is jurisdictional, despite

holding that fimitations principles should generally apply to the Government in the same way

14



tha they apply to private partiédhecause Congress has ihg acquiesced irhe interpretation

we have giver), andBowles v. Russelb51 U.S. 205, 210-13, (2007) (“Although several of our
recent decisions have undertaken to clarify the distinction between -@eadcessing rules and
jurisdictional rules, none dhem calls into question our longstanding treatment of statutory time
limits for taking an appeal as jurisdictiorial.Cf. Menominee Indian Tribe of Wis. v. United
States 614 F.3d 519, 525 (D.C. Cir. 20100FBection 605(a) lacks a comparable lineage.”)
Additionally, the parties have presented no legislative history to demonstita@otigress

intended this statute of limitations to serve one purpose or anStewai Fun Wong135 S.

Ct. at 1633 (“[E]ven assuming legislative history alone couldigeoa clear statement (which

we doubt), none does so here.”)

Turning next to the language of § 7431(d), the Court findslleatext aissueis not so
strong as tdclearly state” that the statute of limitations is jurisdictiomalAloe Vera ) the court
was persuaded that “[t]he inclusion of the phr@sptwithstarding any other provision of law’
at the begining of the subsection require[d] that an action may be brought only within the two-
year period,” and that “[b]y including this phrase, Casgrclearly signaled that thetsta of
limitations is absolute,” i.e., jurisdictioné@ee Aloe Vera b80 F.3d at 871-72. However, in
Kwai Fun Wongthe Court noted that statutes of limitations may bejuosdictional ‘even
when the time limit is imprtant (most are) and even when it is framed in mandatory terms
(again,most are); indeed, that is so ‘however emphatic[albypressed those terms may be.”
Kwai Fun Wong135 S. Ct. at 1632 (alteration in original) (quotihgnderson v. Shinsglk62
U.S. 428, 439 (201)) The statutory provision being analyzedwai Fun Wongthe FTCA’s

statute of limitations, used similarly forceful terms: “[a] tort claim against the USitatés

shall beforever barredunless it is presented [to the agency] witttwo years. . . or unless action

15



is begun within six months’ of the agensylenial of the claim.Kwai Fun Wong135 S. Ct. at
1632(emphasis addedjuoting 28 U.S.C. § 2401(b)). However, the Court foundshéA’s
limitations period to be nonjurisdictial becausé& 2401(b) “does not speak in jurisdictional
terms or refer in any way to the jutistion of the district courts . at 1633(citing Arbaugh v.

Y & H. Corp, 546 U.S. 500, 515 (2006)does not define a federal cowrfurisdiction over tort
claims generallyjanddoesnofl address its authority to hear untimely suits, or in any way cabin
its usual equitablpowers: Id.

Caselaw within thi€ircuit regarding the phrase “notwithstanding any other provision of
law” provides scant guidan@a how the phrase should be interpreted in this cantékile “[a]
clearer statemeris difficult to imagin€, Liberty Mar. Corp. v. United State928 F.2d 413, 416
(D.C. Cir.1991) (internal citation and quotation marks omitted)ptiig Circuit case analyag
this phrase as it modifiessgatute of limitations i&ing v. Dole 782 F.2d 274 (D.C. Cir. 1986),
in which the court found that “[b]y providing that ‘[n]otwithstanding any other provisioavef |
any such case filed. . mustbe filed within 30 days after the date the individual filing the case
received notice of thiidicialy reviewable action,5 U.S.C. 8§ 7703(b)(2), Congress left no
doubt as to the mandatory nature of the time [inhit. at 276.While King is still precedential in
this Circuit,see Brookens v. Acost297 F. Supp. 3d 40, 47 (D.D.C. 2018), many other courts
have found that, in light dfwin, 8 7703(b)(2) is subject to equitable tolling, and therefore, that
the statute of limitations is not jurisdiction&ee Nunnally v. MacCauslar@b6 F.2d 1, 4 (1st
Cir. 1993) (listing cases reaching that conclusion). Moreover, § 7703(b)(2) containsl@onga
“must,” while 8 7431(d) contains a less stringent “may.” For these reasons, the@utiudes
that it cannotletermine from the language ®743Xd) that Congress intended the timing

provision to be a limitation on this Court’s jurisdiction.
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Finally, the structure of § 743ails to provide that “something special” as well
Musacchig 136 S. Ct. at 717n Kwai Fun Wongthe Court took note of the fact that the
FTCA'’s statute of limitations was housed in a different portion of the U.S. tDadés waiver
of sovereign immunityKwai Fun Wong135 S. Ct. at 1633 (comparing locations of 28 U.S.C. §
1346(b)(1) an®8 U.S.C. § 2401(b)). Noting that the “Court has often explained that Corsgress’
separation of a filing deadline from a jurisdictional grant indicates thaintleebar is not
jurisdictional,”id. (internal citations omitted), the Court explained thatréfling § 2401(b¥
time bars as jurisdictional would thus disregard the structural divide built into theeSthl.
Here,the applicablestatute of limitations is housed within the same section as the
Government’s waiver of sovereign immunigee26 U.S.C. § 7431(a)(1), (chlowever,
although the Ninth Circuit found th&gnificant inAloe Vera ] “[m]ere proximity will not turn a
rule that speaks in nonjurisdictional terms into a jurisdictional hir@enzalez v. Thale665
U.S. 134, 146-48 (2012) (discussing appellate jurisdiction over § 2255 habeas petition
decisions)see also Owens v. Republic of Sydés# F.3d 751, 803 (D.C. Cir. 2017)f("
proximity alone were enough, then every subsection in a section containinglfionsl
provision would, by the transitive property, also abut a jurisdictional subsection arfdrinbe
jurisdictional as well, an absurd propositigninstead, the Court must analyze the statute as a
whole.In GonzaleztheSupremeCourt took note of the fact that other provisions within that
sectionspokein “clear jurisdictional terms,” indicating that if Congress intended the stibsec
at issue to be jurisdictional, it would have saidldoat 147. Presumably, if Congress intended §
7431 to be jurisdictional, it would have said so as well.
The Courtalsotakes note of the fact that § 7431 applies to two separate causes of action:

one against the United States and one against private individliate fequirements in lawsuits
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between private litigants are custanty sulject to equitable tolling.lrwin, 498 U.S. at 95
(internal citation and quotation marks omitted). As such, statutes of limitations ibetwisen
private parties are not ordinarily jurisdictional. And there is no indication fnenehguage in 8
7431 that Congress intended to depart from this default principle, nor is there antyandica
from the language in the statute that Congress intended for the same statutetmirisnBa
7431(d), to operate differently as to the two causes of action contained in § 7431(a).
Accordingly, the Court concludes that § 743statute of limitations is a nonjurisdictional
affirmative defense and that the Court must analyze Plaintiffs’ pleadingdiasng under the
Rule 12(b)(6) standard, as opposed to the Rule 12(b)(1) standard.
2. The Timeliness of Counts IV, V and VI

The reasorlaintiffs andthe Government so fervently contest the nature of § 7431’s
statute of limitations is clear from the face of Plaintiffs’ Second Amended Com@aid31
providesfor a statute of limitations within two years of the “discovery” of an unauthibrize
disclosure, anthe clarity with which Plaintiffs allege the datthatthey discovered the
disclosure®f their taxreturninformation varies by count. For examplgth regad tothe IRS’s
disclosure of tax information to the Department of Jugmant IV) and Government Agency’s
disclosure of tax information fits parent agency arat least nine federal employe@ount
VII), Plaintiffs explicitlyrecount that they did not learn about the unauthorized disclosures until
May 2016.See2d Am. Compl. 11 78, 100. Conversely, when recounting the facts underlying
Plaintiffs’ claim for the unauthorized disclosure of tax information to Governdgeancy by
the IRS(Count V), Plaintiffs include no mention of when Plaintiffs discovered that any @& thes

disclosures were madgee idq 79-84.
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Both parties ask the Court to characterize the pleadings otherwise. The Gawternme
argues that “[t]he purported disclosures discussed in Counts IV, V, and VIl occurred as early as
2011, and Plaintiffs knew of communications between various agencies regardisgittesir
tax documents and aiisino later than April of 2013,” which the Government belgeve
demonstratethat Plaintiffs knew, or should have known, about the alleged disclosures long
before May 2016. Defs.” Mot. at 7 (citing ECF No.dt® (e-mail from IRS Revenue Officer
Hammett to Plaintiffs’ counsel Craig Peters regarding IRS contactdJathAttorneys
Office)). Relying on the Ninth Circuit’'s holding iAloe Vera llthatthe § 7431 statute of
limitations begindo run when Plaintiffs “knew or reasonably should have known of the
government’s allegedly unauthorized disclosurBgfs.” Mot at 8 (quotingAloe Vera || 699
F.3d at 116§) the Governmenargues that Plaintiffs were put on inquiry notice of the
unauthorized disclosures when they were made aware by April 2013 that the IRSrkiag
with the Department of Justice ebtain somef the records # Government had seized in 2011.
Id. at /8. Plaintiffs, on the other hanakgue that their complaint clearly states that they
discovered each of these disclosures in the middle of &EPIs.” Opp’n at 12—-15. While this
is not correct—Plaintiffs’ complaint does not in fact explicitly mention when Plaintiffs
discovered the disclosures complained of in Countdéeause the statute of limitations at issue
here is an affirmative defense, and because the facts alleged as to each camsisiemtcwith
Plaintiffs discovering each disclosure in 2016, the Court denies the Government’s motion to
dismiss on this ground.

a. CountdV and VII
In Count IV, Plaintiffs allege that they did not learntbe “true extentMs. Henn’s

unauthorized disclosures to two DOJ attorneys until May of 2016. 2d Am. CompITKer8.
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Government argues that Plaintiffs should have known of the discldspegdeas®pril 2013
because by thetPlaintiffs knew of communications betweernrius agencies regarding their
seized tax documents and audifBefs.” Mot. at 7. However, the Government does not explain
how Plaintiffs being made awaoé the factthat the IRS was working with the Department of
Justice to obtain the records it neetledompete its audits of Plaintiffsonld have made
Plaintiffs aware of the fact that Ms. Henn had te@lid Malis andMr. Bratt thatthe IRS predicted
that Bancroftvas about to lose its taexempt statughat Bancroft was not coepating with the
audit,or other “specifianformation about Plaintiffs’ accounts, transactions, and relationships
with third parties. 2d Am. Compl. § 75seeDefs.” Mot. at 7-8.

Dismissal based on a statute of limitatismsnproper “as long as a plaintiff's potential
rejoincer to the affirmative defense [is not] foreclosed byahegations in the complaifitde
Csepel v. Republic of Hungaryl4 F.3d 591, 608 (D.C. Cir. 2013) (alteration in original)
(internal quotation marks and citation omitt€tBecause statute of linaitions issues often
depend on contested questions of fact, . . . the court should hesitate to dismiss a complaint on
statute of limitations grounds based solely on the face of the comphksitatiis v. District of
Columbig 740 F. Supp. 2d 173, 180 (D.D.C. 2014fj,d, 618 F. App’x 1 (D.C. Cir. 2015Dn
the other hand, if “no reasonable person could disagree on the date” on which the caiume of act
accrued, the court may dismiss a claim on statute of limitations grdsmité. v. Brown &
WilliamsonTobacco Corp.3 F. Supp. 2d 1473, 1475 (D.D.C. 1998) (citiwgvait Airways
Corp. v. Am. Sec. Bank, N,890 F.2d 456, 463 n. 11 (D.Cir. 1989)).Because the parties
dispute when Plaintiffs first learned of these discloswed,because Plaintiffs’ agplaint

plausibly states that Plaintiffs first learned of these disclosnrglsy 2016, the Court cannot
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determine at this stage in the proceedings whether Plaintiffs’ cldimasarred, and therefore
will not dismiss Count IV on this basis.

Similarly, the Government points to no factual allegation that would have given Plaintiffs
a reason to inquire as to whether employees of Government Agency had informegeespfo
its parent agencythat the IRSvas going to shut down Bancroft[] and that Bancroft’'s reputation
involved a troublesome history of audits” before January 2017. 2d Am. Compl. § 96. While the
facts used to support Count VIl are not a model in clarftyr example, Plaintiffs allege that
Government Agencyddmitted in a statement providadthe IRS that Government Agency
employees discussed Bancroft’s tax return information with nine individsais)e of whom do
not work in Government Agency, but they do not allege what types of information was shared,
id. § 98—there is nothing within Piatiffs’ complaint that would suggest that Plaintiffs should
have suspected this sort of information sharing prior to March 3, 2015 (two years before
Plaintiffs filed this suit). As such, Count VII will not be dismissed as{aeed either

b. CountV

Convesely, the facts recounted to support Court V lack any indication of when Plaintiffs
might have first learned thaetweer2012 and 2016, “the IRS also shared with the Government
Agency most, if not all, audit activity of Bancroft, including IR8rerated acuments and
Bancroft’'s own return informatiohjd. § 79,or that “IRS officialghad] informed Government
Agency employees that the IRS would reedancroft’'s tax exempt statusg’ § 81 Plaintiffs
claim that their complaint’'s mention o handwritten note, dated May 6, 2016 and signed by
IRS official Nancy Todd, indicfihg] that she had shared with a Government Agency employee
[] information prepared by the IRS exam in respdadgancroft’s taxpayer protest,”

demonstrates when they first learned of these discleddrg] 83 However, the complaint does
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not explain whether the receipt of this note, when&\aintiffs first reviewed it after May 6,
2016, constituted the first time that they were alerted to the fact that the IR Savealgén
sharing their confidential tax information with Government Agency. If thetstaf limitations
at issue here were jurisdictional, Plaintiffs would likely have failed to meiettinelen of
pleadingthat their claim was timely. However, because Rifé&hcomplaint leaves open the
very real possibility that Plaintiffs first learned of these disclasafier March 3, 2015, and
would have had no reason to know about them ahead of tineegOmplaint on its face jgot]
conclusively timebarred.”Firestone v. Firestong6 F.3d 1205, 1209 (D.Cir. 1996).
Therefore, the Court does not dismiss Count V on this greitihelr
B. The Sufficiency of the Pleadings irfCounts Ill, IV, V, VI, and VII

The Government also arguibst Plaintiffs have failed to plead sufficient facts to state
claims of unlawful disclosure in violation of 8 6103. In particular, the Governmentsatgie
Plaintiffs’ unlawful disclosure claims are not supportedhi®/necessargllegations othe date
of the disclosures, who made them, to whom they were made, the nature of the disatasur
the circumstances surrounditigem, as well as allegations demeashg that the disclosures
came directly or indirectly from the IRS add nd fall within one of § 6103’s many exceptions,
andarethereforensufficiently pleadedSeeDefs.” Mot. at 10—11. Plaintiffs respond tttae
Government is attempting to impose on Plaintiffs a more stringent pleading staraohaigl th
actually required by law, and that Plaintiffs have indeed pleaded sufficientdestiate valid
claims under 8 743B5eePIs.” Opp’'n at 15-24. For the reasons explained belwvCourt will

dismissCouns Il andVII, but not Counts IV, V, andl, as insufficiently pleaded
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1. Information Obtained from Non-IRS Sources

The Government’s first challengettee sufficiency of Plaintiffs’ pleadings that some
of their claims are for the disclosure of “documents or information acquired imdisuéy from
a taxpayer oparty other than the IRS.” D&f Mot. at 12.Citing to Stokwitz v. United States
831 F.2d 893 (9th Cir. 198Mamont v. O'Neill 285 F.3d 9 (D.C. Cir. 2002andRyan v.
United States74 F.3d 1161 (11th Cir. 1996), the Governnagues that Count Il of the
Second Amended Complaint, which seeks to recover for the FBI and the U.S. Attorfilegs O
disclosure of Plaintiffs’ confidential returns and return information to empkgé Government
Agency, does not in fact allege a violation of § 6b@8ause none of the documents shared came
directly or indirectly from the IRSDefs.” Mot. at 12-13. Plaintiffs respond that § 6103’s broad
language, which provides that “no officer or employee of the United States . . . stlakeliany
return or return information obtained byrhin any manner,” includese disclosure of
confidential material obtaed by anondRS federal employee during the executioracfearch
warrant. PIs.” Opp’n at. 16. The Coagrees thathe United States may be held liable when non-
IRS federal employeedisclose confidential returns or return information. Howdwecause the
documents shared came from Plaintiffs themselves, Count Il is not one ofrib@sees.

Section 7431(a)(1) allows taxpayers to bring civil actions for damages atheirtgtited
States “[i]fany officer or employee of the United States knowingly, or by reason of neggige
inspects or discloses any return or return information with respect to a taxpaidation d
any provision of section 6103,” 26 U.S.C. § 7431(a)fEcion 6103 defines the phrase “return”
as ‘any tax or information return, declaration of estimated tax, or claim fande®quired by, or
provided for or permitted under, the provisions of this tithech is filed with the Secretaby,

on behalf of, or with respect to any person, and any amendment or supplement theueiagincl
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supporting schedules, attachments, or lists which are supplemental to, or partetfjrthea
filed.” 26 U.S.C. 8 6103(b)(1) (emphasis added). It further defines “returrmat@n” as,
among other things,
a taxpayes identity, the nature, source, or amount of his income,
payments, receipts, deductions, exemptions, credits, assets,
liabilities, net worth, tax liability, tax withheld, deficiencies,
overassessments, or t@ayments, whether the taxpayer’s return
was, is being, or will be examined or subject to other investigation
or processing, or any other datageived by, recorded by, prepared
by, furnished to, or collected by the Secretaith respect to a return
or with respect to the determination of the existence, or possible
existence, of liability (or the amount thereof) of any person under
this title for any tax, penalty, interest, fine, forfeituo, other
imposition, or offense . . . .
Id. 8 6103(b)(2) (emphasis added). Therefore, while 8§ 6103 does not specify that only IRS
employees must work to keep returns and return information confidential, the dtsste
specify that it protects documents and informatifdled with the Secretary” or “received by,
recaded by, prepared by, furnished to, or collected by the Secrekdrg 6103(bj1), (2)

The Governmergmphasizes that therevisde agreement thatformation obtained
directly from a taxpayer, as opposed to the IRS, does not fall within the defimafitresurn” or
“return information” in the ActSee, e.gLomont v. O’'Neill 285 F.3d 9, 15 (D.C. Cir. 2002)
(“An element of return information is that it beceived by, recorded by, prepared by, furnished
to, or collected by the Secretary . Yet here state and local officers obtain the information
from the[taxpayer] before the retuin filed with the Secretary(internal citations and quotation
marks omitted))Ryan v. United Stateg4 F.3d 1161, 1163 (11th Cir. 1998)] he statutory
definition of “return information” confines it to information that has passed througR&$&);

Stokwitz v. United State831 F.2d 893, 894 (9th Cir. 1987 he district court concluded that

section 6103, and hence section 7431, were direatebddosegovernment officers and
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employees who obtained returns and return information as a result of thesalsbganig filed
by or on behalf of the taxpayer, or received by, furnishedrtopllected by the SecretarWe
agree.”) ThisCourt agrees as wellVhile 8 6103 applies not only to IRS employees, but rather
to “all who receive information frorthe IRS, directly or indirectly,” retas andreturn
information must have, in some way, passed through the IRS in order to be protected under §
6103.Stokwitz 831 F.2d at 896 n.4.

In their factual allegations supporting Court Ill, Plaintiffs explain thaflay 2016, they
were informed by the IRS that some of their tax records, which tharBICEhad seized
directly from Plaintiffs’ home and office, wereibg “maintained in a facility that could have
been accessed by IRS personnel with the proper clearance if the taxpayer aatiprovi
permission.” 2d Am. Compl. § 76ee also id]{ 66-68. Plaintiffs believe that the facility to
which the IRS referred belgs to Government Agency, with which Bancroft habaul a
classified contractual relationshipl. § 71.Plaintiffs arguethat this was annauthorized
disclosure of their tax returns and tax return information in violation of 8 6103. However,
because the referenced copies of these tax and findociainents were obtained directly from
Plaintiffs, and because these copies themselves did not pass through the IRS before landing in
the FBI and U.S. Attorney’s Offices’ possession, they are not “returns” torfiranformation”
under 8 6103 and § 7431. Therefore, Count Il fails to state a claim for the unlawful we@bs
tax return or return information, and must be dismissed.

The Government next moves to dismiss Counts VI and VIl on the gthanhthe
recipientsof the disclosed information mightwve learnedf the informationdisclosedrom the
plaintiffs themselve®r their attorneys, and that therefore, the information was both not disclosed

by a federal employee and also did oconstitute “returns” or “returmformatiori under the
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statute SeeDefs.” Mot. at 13 (explaining that “Section 6103 defines ‘disclosure’ asnila&ihg
known to any person in any manner whatever a return or return information.” (gaeétin
U.S.C. 8§ 6103(b)(8). In support of Count VI, Plaintiffs respond that their Second Amended
Complaint alleges thdaCE Special Agent Dietrich learned of Plaintiffs’ confidential return
information directly fromlRS or FBlemployeesSeePl.’'s Opp’n at 22 (citing 2d Am. Compl.
91). Additionally, they point out that even if Special Agent Dietrich had learned of thésaudit
existencalirectly from Plaintiffs or their attorneys, that fact would not be enough to dismis
Count VI for failure to state a clairBee id(citing Mallas v. United Sties 993 F.2d 1111, 1121
(4th Cir. 1993) [E] ven to the extent that the [revenue agent reports] repeated information
otherwise available to the public, they still fell withithie protection of § 6108. In support of
Count VII, Plaintiffs respond agathat their complaint alleges that GovernmeneAcy
obtained the information it shared with parent agency and the nine undisclosed federal
employees directly from the IRSeePl.’s Opp’n at 23 n.14. The Court finds that the Second
Amended Complaint cdairs sufficient factual allegations that the information thsed to
Special Agent Dietrich, the parent agency, and nine ¢tlaeral employees conttiestax
“return informatiofiunder the statute

In constructingheir claim inCount VI, Raintiffs allegethat when Special Agent Dietrich
dropped off two boxesf previously seized material, he made clear that he was aware that the
IRS was still auditing Plaintiffs, and according to Plaintifss aware of the “anticipated
outcome” of the adit. 2d Am. Compl. 11 87, 89. Plaintiffs explain that “ICE agents should never
have been made aware of the existence of an IRS audit in the first place, mudit iesgath
still unresolved threenda-half years after it beganld. 1 90. Plaintiffs beéve that the IRS and

the FBI informed ICE of this informatioid. I 91.
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These allegations make clear that Plaintiffs do not believe they ever infanpe@GE
personnel of the td that they were being audited thatPlaintiffs believed that some ofé¢h
records ICE and the FBI had seized might be relevant to the dtiditeSsential to remember
that, for the purposes of ruling on a motion to dismiss, the factual allegations of fhl@iobm
mustbe presumed to be true and liberally construed in faivtbre Plaintiff’ Paulin v. George
Washington Univ. Sch. of Med. & Health S&5.8 F. Supp. 2d 241, 246 (D.D.C. 2012)
(emphasis in original). The Government cites to several emails in which Plagtiffssel
corresponded with individuals in the Defpaent of Justice about Plaintiffs’ need to regain
possession of their progig in order tocomplywith the IRS’s document requesg&eeDefs.’

Mot. at 13. However, disclosure thfe existence adn audit to the Department of Justice for the
purpose of reteving files does not indicate similar disclossit@ another, entirely separate
agency. And what is more, even if Plaintiffs had informed ICE that it was undeiraiiglit
attempt to regain possession of its property, that would not explain how Spgerdlietrich
alsoknew about the likely outcome of the IRS’s audit. Therefore, the Court cannot dismiss
Count VI on the ground that it is possilthat ICE received some of Plaintiffs’ confidential tax
information from Plaintiffs themselves.

Similarly, Plaintiffs’ complaint does not indicate in any way that Plaintiffs may have
disclosed to Government Agency the tax information that Governigaricy allegedly
disclosed to employees of Government Agency’s parent agency and nine other uncienatd fe
employees.See generallgd Am. Compl. 1 92—-10mhdeed, it seemisnplausiblethat Plaintiffs
had any incentive to tedinyone working at Government Agency that “the IRS was going to shut
down Bancroft, and that Bancroft's reputation involved a troublesome history of ‘aldliff.

96. As such, the Court cannot dismiss Count VII on this ground either.
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2. The Detail Required to State a Claim

The Governmerfurtherargues thatas to Counts 1V, VI, and VII, Plaintiffs have not
giventhe Governmengnoughfactsregardinghe circumstances of these allegedly unlawful
disclosures to pragly state a claim under 8§ 748t to allow the Government to properly defend
itself. SeeDefs.” Mot. at 14—16Plaintiffs counterthatthe Government is attempting to impose
on Plantiffs a heightened pleading standard, more akin to Rule 9(b)’s pleading standaoait wit
any legal spport to buttress their entitlemeintmore details at this stage in the proceediggs.
Pls.” Opp’n at 15. As explained below, the Court fitttlst Phintiffs have included enough facts
in support of Counts IV and VI to properly state claims under 8§ 7431. However, the Court finds
that Count VIl is insufficiently pleaded, and therefore dismisses that claim.

Complaints fothe unlawful disclosure of tax information are not subjecthi t
heightened pleading standaftiRule 9.See, e.gNorCal Tea Party Patriots. IRS No. 13¢v-
341, 2014 WL 3547369, at *14 (W.D. Ohio. July 17, 20t #Jaintiff did not need to plead
detailed facts and its allegatioae sufficient to meet the Rule 8(a) standardrstvedt v.

United States824 F. Supp. 978, 985 (D. Colo. 1998plding plaintiff’s complaint to the Rule
8(a) pleading standard). However, district courts generally tend to hold thavioragful
disclosure action, plaintiff must specifically allege who made the alleged disetpsarwhom
they were made, the nature of the disclosures, the circumstances surroundingdhibm dates
on which they were madeMay v. United StateNo. 91-0650V-W-9, 1992 U.S. Dist. LEXIS
16055, at *6 (W.D. Mo. Apr. 17, 1992iting five district court decisions noting the sansse
also Dean v. United StateNo. 09-3095, 2010 WL 1257792, at *4 (D.N.J. Mar. 29, 2Q10he
plaintiff, in making this allegation, prodg alleges who made the disclosures, to whom they

were made, and the dates of and circumstances surrounding the disglo&yaintiff must
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also plead “what specificéturn or reten information’an employee of the United States
disclosed that violated 8 6103May, 1992 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 1605&t *6—*7.

This level of detail is required to put the Government on nofigéhich exact actiosa
plaintiff challenges”By having the alleged illegally disclosed information properly pleaded, the
Defendanis able to identify which exception, if any, the disclosure will fall into under § 6103.
Absent a proper identification of the alleged illegally disclosed informatiene twould be a
constant guessing game as to the disclosures and excéptiomas.*7. This standard applies
even when a plaintiff would be able to allege more detailed factual allegatiendiscovery.

See FostvedB24 F. Supp. at 986 @3pite the fact that discovery might alltive plaintiffto
better plead his claim for unlawful disclosure, “[b]asedtba plaintiff’'s] conclusory, nebulous
claim, the United States can have no way of knowing what discovery it should graddaceill
therefore be tinable to formulate a defenye.

The Government first argues that Plaintiffs’ pténgs in support of Count 1V are
insufficient becauspleadingamerely alleginghat the disclosures took place over the course of a
year gives the Government insufficient notice of the cl&@gaeDefs.” Mot. at 14. However, the
Court finds this rough timeline sufficient to put the Government on notice of which disglosure
Plaintiffs are challengindgsee May1992 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 16055, at *7. While more detail
would always be helpful, the Government will not need specific dates to rebut claeusdra
these particular conversations when so many other details have also been plezies: Be
Government’s ability to defend itself will not be hampered by this prolongetirtenéhe Court
will not dismiss Count IV on this basiSee FostvedB24 F. Supp. at 986. Additionally, the
Court will not dismiss Count IV because there is a chance that Mr. Malis andafirlé&rned

of the IRS audit from Plaintiffs themselv&eeSection IV.B.1:see also Mallas v. United States
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993 F.2d 1111, 1121 (4th Cir. 1993[E]ven to the extent that the [revenue agent reports]
repeated information otherwise available to the public, they still fdllinVithe protection of 8§
6103.)

Turning next to Count VI, the Government argues that “one ambiguous comment by an
agent of ICE is insufficient to support a claim of unlawful disclosure.” Defs.’ Btdt5. In their
complaint, Plaintiffs allege that the IRS and FBI must have disclosed theeamtrdldax return
information to ICE Special Agent Dietrich at some point before June 24, 2015, as evidgnced b
the fact that Special Agent Dietrich was “awax[jhe existence, status, scope, and anticipated
outcome of the IRS audit” when he dropped off two boxes of Plaintiffs’ seized documents. 2d
Am. Compl. 11 86, 89. While Plaintiffs have pleaded to whom their confidential tax infonmat
was disclosed (Special Agent Dietrich) and what was disclosed (the egisteth status of the
audit and its likely result), they have offered the Government little clue as tdheynbelieve
madethese disclosures. Plaintiffs merely allege that “[u]pon further infoomand believe, this
confidential information was disclosed to ICE officials by IRS and FBlleyees.” 2d Am.

Compl. T 91.

Alleging facts “upon information and belief” can befstiént to survive a motion to
dismiss.See Evangelou v. District of Colump&01 F. Supp. 2d 159, 170 (D.D.C. 201R)
plaintiff may plead facts upon information and belief “where the facts ardipgy within the
possession and control of the defendant, or where the belief is based on factual wricimasti
makes the inference of culpability plausible.”). However, many courts have heid tnder to
state a claim for wrongful disclosure in violation of § 6103, plaintiffs need to igeevtién if
only upon information and belief, who made the unlawful disclosure and Bbene.gMay,

1992 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 16055, at *6glaintiff must specifically allege who made the alleged
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disclosures, to whom they were made, the nature of the disclosures, the enoasst
surrounding them, andetdates on which they were madesgg alsoraylor v. PekerglNo. 14-
cv-96, 2016 WL 5172829 (N.D. Fl. Aug. 12, 2016) (Report and Recommendadiopted in
2016 WL 4618895, at *2 (N.D. Fl. Sept. 6, 201@uccessful pleadings include the names of the
individuals who received the wrongfully disclosed informatidiggele v. Harris69 F. Supp. 3d
313, 321-22 (N.D.N.Y. 2014¥%ame);NorCal Tea Party Patriots v. [.R,9o. 13¢v-341, 2014
WL 3547369, *13-14 (W.D. Ohio. July 17, 2044ame). Here, Plaintiffs have not specifically
alleged who made the disclosure, or when.

Not all cours hold plaintiffs to such stringent standards, however. For exam@&img
v. United Statesa plaintiff alleged that on a particular date, his wife, an IRS employee, was
informed that “in the Lafayette office of the IRS, pldirditax information wa being bpenly
and illegally discussed and gossiped about by agents and the employees ofdte t&B8er
relationship with him? No. 98-1452, 1998 WL 990581, at *3 (W.D. La. Dec. 10, 1998).
The court held that even though the complaint did “not specify who made the alleged imprope
disclosures to whom, what information was disclosed, when disclosures were made,” “there
[we]re sufficient facts from which the Government can infer [@ediput on notice of the
elements of a claim of wrongful di®sure under section 7431.998 WL 990581, at *2—*3.
Here, Plaintiffs have alleged even more specific information than the glair§frong The
Government knows to whom the tax return information alegjedlyrevealed and can also
estimate around when this information was revealed to him: Spring of 2015. As such, the
Government will know exactlwhom to turn to—Mr. Dietrich—in order to formulate a defense
and gather evidence to rebut this claBee FostvedB24 F. Supp. at 986 (discussing the

importance of clear pleadings to allow defendants to effectively conduovdrycand defend
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themselves). Because “Plfffs’] complaint is not so indefinite that the Government cannot
respond to plaintiff's pleading,” and the dates on which such disclosures took place are
peculiarly within the Government’s control, the Court finds that Count VI was isurig
pleaded.

Count VII, however, is supported with too few facts to put the Government on notice of
which unlawful disclosures Plaintiffs are challenging. Plaintiffs recthattin January 2017,
once Government Agency’s parent agency, which Bancroft refers to as Otiganiearned
that Bancroft was a bidder for a “sole-source contract,” Organization citlieater into a
contract with Bancroft because “Organization had been made aware oStlaedR,” and had
been told “that the IRS was going to shut down Bancroft[] and that Bancroft's reputat
involved a troublesome history of audits.” 2d Am. Compl. fB#hcroft believes that
Organization heard these rumors from Government Agency employees but does howpeci
at Government Agency shared these rumors with Organization employees, or which
Organization employees were the ones infornsee idJ 97. Paintiffs further allege that
“Government Agency even admitted in a statement provided to the IRS that GemeAgency
employees discussed Bancroft’s tax return information with nine individualg, gbwhom
work in different parts of government than thevernment Agency.ld.  98. These individuals
included ‘managemenlevel staff in a procurement entity, who were wadkitioned to make
decisions about Bancroft’s eligibility to receive government contfacts 99.Bancroft does
not specify what tax return information was shared with these nine indivittli[§. 98-99.

These allegations are too sparse to give the Government sufficient idieentffs’

claims. Not only do these allegations lack details of who disclosed the tax retumatibn, to
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whom, and when, they do not even disclose where in the Government these individudls work.
While it might be possible for the Government to patch togeiieeidentities of the agencies to
which Plaintiffs are referring by consulting with the Department of Justice or theaFBiis
point the Government has little indicatiohwho in these mystery agencies disclosed
information about Plaintiffs, apart from a single list with individuals’ first naeresthe first
initials of their last name&eeECF No. 18 at 5. Additionally, Plaintiffs have not specified in any
way what tax return information was shared with the nine undisclosed governmeoyesspl
2d Am. Comp. 1 9839. There is simply too little detail here to give Defendants any notice of
which actions Plaintiffs are challenging, or how Defendants might be ableuiotihese claims.
See FostvedB24 F. Supp. at 986Based orjthe plaintiff's] conclusory, nebulous claim, the
United States can have no way of knowing what discovery it should produce.”) Foa#us,re
the Court dismisses Count VII of Plaintiffs’ Second Amended Complaint.
3. Section 6103’s Exceptions

The Government next contends that in order to surviventiten to dismiss, Plaintiffs
“must allege facts showing that a disclosure wauthorizeg—that is, that the disclosure
violated 8§ 6103.” Defs.” Mot. at 16 (citing/elborn v. IRS218 F. Supp. 3d 64, 83 (D.D.C.

2016))* The Governmentlaims that Count®/, V, and VI are “merely consistent with the

3 Plaintiffs have explained that they did not include the names of Government Amency
its parent agency, Organization, in their Second Amended Comipésiatise Bancroft’s
relationship with these agencieclassifiedSeePIs.” Opp’n at 7 n.4, 23. However, Plaintiffs
have not explained whether they have definitively determinatdhey have no means by which
they could inform the Government in their Second Amended Complaivitich agencies they
arereferring tq or why, if they cannot, the Court should disreghelclear requirement that the
Government be given sufficient notice of the facts surrounding the unlawfwslises in the
complaint itself SeeMay, 1992U.S. Dist. LEXIS 16055at *6; see alsoDean 2010WL
1257792, at *5.

4 It should be noted that the standard mentionafléibornthat Defendantsonfidently
citeto in theirmotion is a standard to be used following a trial on the merits of an unlawful
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possibility of an unlawful disclosure,” but do not establish a plausible inference that on
occurredand therefore must be dismisskt.at 17. Defendants expect too much. Plaintiffs’
complaint need ngileadwith particularity that these disclosures were unauthorized, but rather
must not, on its face, plead that they were authorized. Because the facts alleged trosuppor
Counts IV, V, and VI do not without question demonstrate that these disclosureshfiellamiy

of § 6103’s exceptions, the Court will not dismiss these counts on this ground either.

In support of CounkV, Plaintiffs allege thain July 2012, IRS counsel Elizabeth Henn
contactedAssistant U.S. Attorney Malis and Deputy Chief Btattrequest access ®laintiffs’
missing tax records2d Am. Compl. § 74. They further allege that “Ms. Henn engaged in an
extensive and detailed dialog[ueout the audit of Bancroft with Messrs. Malis and Bratt over
the course of a yeaduring which time she disclosed the followinfprmation:” (1) ‘the
existence and status of the audit”; (2) “Rgvenue Agent’s prediction that Bancroft's tax-
exempt status would be revoKg(B) “[a] Revenue Agent’s view that Bancroft was not being
cooperative! and(4) “specific information about Plaintiffs’ accounts, transactions, and
relationships with third partiesld. { 75. Plaintiffgoreemptivelyexplain that these
“conversations were not investigative in any respleetause “the IRS was not seeking answers
to anyaudit+elated queries and instead was simply requesting access to docuidefjtg?7.

Section 6103(k)(6) provides that “[a]n internal revenue officer . . . may, in connection

with his official duties relating to any audit, . . . disclose return infaondb the extent that

disclosure claimSee Welborn218 F. Supp. 3dt 83 (quotingrostvedt 824 F. Supp. at 983In

order to recover under section 7431 for violations of section 6103, a taxpayer must show by a
preponderance of the evidence that: (1) the disclosure was unauthorized; (2) tseidisghs
made knowingly or by reason of negligence; and (3) the disclosure violated section 6103.”
(internal quotations omittedgiting Flippo v. United State$70 F. Supp. 638, 641
(W.D.N.C.1987) (findings of fact and conclusions of laveaé trial on the merit})
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such disclosure is necessary in obtaining information, which is not otherwiseatglgson
available, with respect to the correct determination of . . . liability for tax” although “[s]uch
disclosures shall be made only in such situations and under such conditions as the Seayetary
prescribe by regulation.” 26 U.S.C. 8§ 6103(k)(6). IRS regulations clarify tha¢$sary” “does

not mean essential or indispensable, but rather appropriate and helpful in obtaining the
informationsought.” 26 C.F.R. § 301.6103(k)(6§€)(1).

Thefirst alleged disclosura Count IV—the existence and status of the auditay
perhapsdll within this exceptionAfter all, in 2012, Plaintiffs were dtiunder criminal
investigationsee2d Am. Compl. {1 25, 41 (explaining that the investigation was ongoing from
2011 to 2013), anthe IRSneededmany of the documents the FBI and ICE had seized in 2011
in order to conduct its audid. 1 32. It is possible that, in order to gain access to these
documents, IRS counsel Elizabeth Henn contacted DOJ attorneys who might be ablel& provi
the IRSwith access to thengeeid. 1 33, 74.

However, the Court is unable to determine whether this was Ms. Henn’s motivation at
this stage in the proceedingdis.True the Vote, Inc. v. IR®e D.C. Circuit adopted the pleading
standard for § 7431 unlawfirispection claire articulated inNorCal Tea Party Patriots v. IRS
No. 1:13-ev-341, 2014 WL 3547369, at *11-14 (S.D. Ohio July 17, 20844331 F.3d 551,
557-58 (D.C. Cir. 2016). INorCal, “Plaintiff Groups allegel] that Defendants inspected and
shared information which they knew was irrelevant to the determination of eag¥isgiax
exempt status.ld. at *13. However, even though the pilslity remained that the Plaintiffs’
claims were exempted from liability under 86103(h)(1), which perfimspection by or
disclosure to officers and employees of the Department of the Treasuficias ddities require

such inspection or disclosui@ tax administration purposes,” 26 U.S.C. 8 6103(h)(1), the Court
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found that a determination at that stage in the proceedings would be inappropriate thecause
“case wa only at the Rule 12(b)(6) stage” and because “Plaintiff Groups dettjedheir

claim [was based solely upon the improper requests for informatidnWhile the court set

forth what evidence Plaintiffs would needpiesentt a later stage in the proceedings in order to
prove that their claim did not fall within 8 6103’s tagminidration exception, the court found
that the groups had pleaded sufficient facts to warrant the chance to collectdbateldl.

The Court sees n@ason why the pleading standé&dinspection claims should zay
less stringent than the pleading standards for disclosure claims. As sucbuthadopts the
standard endorsed iirue the Vote, IncAccordingly,because Plaintiffs have alleged that none
of the information Ms. Henn disclosed was disclosed for investigative purposes, the Cour
declines & dismisgshe firstportion of Count IV on this groun&ee True the Vote, In&31 F.3d
at557-58.

Therest of thealleged disclosureis Count IV? V,® and VI’ are alsmot on their face

facts that would be “appropriate and helpfultétayin order to gain access to the records

® The rest of the alleged disclosures in Count IV fagRevenue Agent’s prediction that
Bancroft’'s taxexempt status would be revoketfa] Revenue Agent’s view that Bancroft was
not being cooperative”; arfg@pecificinformation about Plaintiffs’ accounts, transactions, and
relationships with third parti€s2d Am. Compl. § 75.

® The disclosureallegedin Count V (disclosures by the IRS to employees of
Government Agencyare “most, if not all, audit activity of Banoft, including IRSgenerated
documents and Bancroft’'s own return informatiad,™] 79; the prediction that “the IRS would
revoke Bancroft’s tax exempt statug]” § 81; a prediction of the audit’s outcome and the claim
that Plaintiffs were being uncoagpgive,id.  82; and “a discussion of (i) Bancroft's accounting
system and recorkleeping; (ii) whether Bancroft properly had managed federal funds; (iii)
whether Bancroft used Generally Accepted Accounting Principles; andl@ather the
Government Agency would be willing to pressure Bancrofelimquish its taxexempt status,”
id. 1 84.

" The disclosureallegedin Count VI (disclosures by the IRS to ICE) arthe' existence,
status, scope, and anticipated outcome of the IRS,autif 89, and pasbly “that the audit
was expected to result in the revocatdrBancroft’'s taxexempt status,id. 9 90.
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needed to perform an audit. 26 C.F.R. § 301.6103(K)®&)). Therefore, the Couslsocannot

at this time determin&hetherthese disclosures fall withithe investigative exception, or any

other exception, to § 6103. Accordingly, these counts survive Defendants’ motion as well.
C. Standing

Finally, the Government challengié® Stocks’ ability to claim damag for theunlawful
disclosures alleged in Counts IV and ¥tguing that the facts alleged only refer to the
disclosure of Bancroft’s tax return information, and not the Sto8egDefs.” Mot. at 19—-20.
Plaintiffs respond that the case the Governmogasto support its proposition that taxpayers
may only sue under § 7431 for the disclosure of their own tax return information is both not
controlling and only discusses the relevant principle in dicta, and that at leastrinl&,
Plaintiffs claim that both the Stockshd Bancroft'stax return information was disclosetke
Pls.” Opp’n at 24-25.

Section 743Pprovides that when a federal employee discloaey feturn or return
information with respect to a taxpayer in violation of any provision of section 6168,
taxpayermay bring a civil action for damages against the United St&@4J.S.C. § 7431(a)(1)
(emphasis added). Whiorman E. Duquette, Inc. v. C.I,R10 F. Supp. 2d 16 (D.D.C. 2000)
is not controlling, the Court agrees with its and many other courts’ interpretétioa statute’s
clear languageSeel10 F. Supp. 2d at 23 (“Only a taxpayer whose tax return or return
information is claimed to have been improperly disclosed may bring a lawsuit utienSe
7431Y).

“[Clonstru[ing] the complaint liberally” andgranting the plaintiff the benefit of all
inferences thatan be derived from the facts allegearr v. Clinton 370 F.3d 1196, 1199

(D.C. Cir. 2004) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted), the Court observes that
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Plaintiffs have alleged thabmereturninformation regarding all three Plaintiffs was deszd
by the IRS to the U.S. Attorney’s Office and the Department of Justice (CoOymtHile the
information disclosed by the FBI and the IRS to €Bardednly Bancroft(Count VI).

Plaintiffs allegethat Ms. Henn conveyed to Mr. Malis and Mr. Bragpécific
information about Plaintiffs’ accounts, transactions, and relationships with thirelsga2d Am.
Compl. 75. Granting Plaintiffs all inferences that can be derived from the pluesérefe to
“Plaintiffs™ return information,the Court reads the information as pertairtmgll three
taxpayers, and therefore each taxpayer has standing to recover dantagesutteed on the
merits of the claim. However, the other two pieces of information that Ms. Henn conveyed—*
Revenue Agent’s prediction that Baoftis tax-exempt status would be revoked” aride'
Revenue Agent’s view that Bancroft was not being cooperaine—appear to only concern
Bancroft’s tax return information and Bancroft’'s audit, even if the Stocks wegneak8cipants
in the IRS’s audit of Bancroft. As such, the Court dismisses Mr. and Mrs. Stbaik's for the
unlawful disclosure of “the Revenue Agent’s prediction that Bancroft's tamyeixstatus would
be revoked” and “the Revenue Agent’s view that Bancroft was nag lsemperative,but not
the disclosure of “specific information about Plaintiffs’ accounts, tramsa;tand relationships
with third parties.d.

As to Count VI, Plaintiffs have conceded that “[t]o the extent the Court adopts the
Duquettedicta, only Bancroft would be able to recover on Counts 6 dnélg.’ Opp’n at 24 n.
15.The Court agrees with Plaintiffs’ assessment. Plaintiffs have altage8pecial Agent
Dietrich was aware of the existermed statusf an IRS audijtas well asts anticipated outcome.
2d Am. Compl. 11 89-90. While at the beginning of Plaintiffs’ recounting of thegadining

to Count VI, they allege thatCE employees also became privy to Plaintiffs’ confidential tax
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information as a result of unlawful dissures,” in the regif theirfactual allegations, Plaintiffs
only refer toBancroft’'s documents, Bancroft’'s tax return information, and a single Seditid.
11 85-90.Because Plaintiffs’ factual allegations only indicate that Bancroft’s taxre
information was shared with Special Agent Dietrich, only Bancroft has standiagawer for

this disclosure. Therefore, Mr. and Mrs. Stoad@msunder Count VI are dismissed.

V. CONCLUSION
For the foregoing reasorBefendants’ Motion for Partial Dismissal of Plaintiffs’ Second
Amended Complaint (ECF No. 42)@&RANTED IN PART AND DENIED IN PART .
Counts Illand VII of Plaintiffs’ Second Amended Complaint &MISSED. The Court also
dismisses Mr. and Mrs. Stockitaims in Count VI and a portion of Count IV. An order

consistent with this Memorandum Opinion is separately and contemporaneously issued.

Dated: August 27, 2018 RUDOLPH CONTRERAS
United States District Judge
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